2011

## Rhonda Malloy v. Mary Beth Malloy : Unknown

Utah Court of Appeals

## JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j).

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Appellant raises the following issues on appeal.

**1. Did the District Court err in finding that the insurance manual was a “governing instrument” under Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804?**

Standard of Review: A correction of error standard reviews the legal conclusions made by a district court for correctness without giving any deference to the legal conclusions of the district court. *R & R Indus. Park, L.L.C. v. Utah Prop. & Cas. Ins. Guar. Ass’n*, 199 P.3d 917, 922 (Utah 2008).

**2. Did the District Court err in relying upon the documents identified as the insurance manual and master policy when those documents had no foundation and were not properly authenticated?**

Standard of Review: A correction of evidentiary error standard reviews the legal conclusions made by a district court for correctness without giving any deference to the legal conclusions of the district court. *State v. Whittle*, 989 P.2d 52, 58 (Utah 1999); *R & R Indus. Park, L.L.C. v. Utah Prop. & Cas. Ins. Guar. Ass’n*, 199 P.3d 917, 922 (Utah 2008).

**3. Did the District court err in finding that the governing instruments of the policy contained express language preventing operation of the automatic revocation by divorce provision of Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804?**



Standard of Review: A correction of error standard reviews the legal conclusions made by a district court for correctness without giving any deference to the legal conclusions of the district court. *R & R Indus. Park, L.L.C. v. Utah Prop. & Cas. Ins. Guar. Ass'n*, 199 P.3d 917, 922 (Utah 2008).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Nature of the Case.

Defendant/Appellee Mary Beth Malloy was married to Dan Malloy on July 4, 1989. In August 1989, Dan Malloy purchased a life insurance policy through the Federal Employees Group Life Insurance ("FEGLI") in the amount of \$50,000.00 (the "Policy") and designated Mary Beth as the beneficiary of the Policy. In April 2004 Dan Malloy and Mary Beth were divorced. Dan Malloy did not revoke or change the designation of beneficiary under the Policy. Dan Malloy and Rhonda were subsequently married on June 30, 2006. Dan Malloy died on September 1, 2009. After Dan Malloy's death, Mary Beth received \$50,000.00 as the benefit paid out under the terms of the Policy. Rhonda thereafter demanded that Mary Beth surrender the proceeds of the Policy to Rhonda. Mary Beth refused to surrender the Proceeds. Rhonda, individually and as personal representative of the Estate of Dan Malloy ("Rhonda") commenced the district court case to recover the Proceeds paid to Mary Beth.

### B. Course of Proceedings.

The district court action was filed by Rhonda in the Second District Court on June 2, 2010, under case number 100904217. (R. 1-10.) The case named Appellee Mary Beth Malloy as Defendant. The action against Mary Beth was based on breach of contract,

civil contempt, breach of duty of good faith and fair dealing and unjust enrichment under Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804. On June 28, 2010, Mary Beth filed an Answer in this matter. (R. 1- ) On February 20, 2011, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 1- ). On February 25, 2011, Mary Beth filed a response to Rhonda's Motion for Summary Judgment and filed her own Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 1- ) On April 6, 2011, the district court heard oral argument from both parties on their respective motions for summary judgment. At the conclusion of the Hearing, the district court took the matter under advisement and instructed the parties to submit supplemental memoranda addressing the issue of preemption. (R. 227.) On April 25, 2011, Rhonda filed her Supplemental Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and in Opposition to Defendant's Countermotion for Summary Judgment and again objected to the admission of the Manual and Master Policy documents as they lacked foundation and were not authenticated. (R. 237.) On May 2, 2011, in response to Plaintiff's Supplemental Memorandum, Mary Beth filed a Reply to Plaintiff's Supplemental Memorandum with an Affidavit in Support of Exhibits (the "Affidavit") as an exhibit to the memorandum. (R. 255.) On May 13, 2011, the district court entered a Memorandum Decision denying Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and granting Mary Beth's Motion for Summary Judgment. This appeal followed.

**C. Disposition at district court or agency.**

The district court found for Mary Beth and denied Rhonda's claims for relief. The district court determined that Mary Beth was the beneficiary of the Policy and that her divorce from Dan Malloy did not revoke the designation of beneficiary based on an

exception to Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804. The district court found that the insurance policy, the insurance manual and the beneficiary election form were the governing instruments of the Policy and that the insurance manual provided an exception to § 75-2-804. The district court did not reach the issue of whether a private right of action was created by Utah statute enabling Rhonda to recover the Proceeds from Mary Beth. The district court awarded summary judgment to Mary Beth and denied Rhonda's claims for relief. (Memorandum Decision, Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment; R. 273-281.)

#### STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

The pertinent facts found by the Court are stated below: (*See* Memorandum Decision, Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment; R. 273-281.):

1. Mary Beth married Dan Malloy on July 14, 1989. (R. 274.)
2. Dan Malloy obtained an insurance policy (the "Policy") through the Federal Employees' Group Life Insurance plan in August 1989. (R. 274.)
3. Mary Beth was designated as the beneficiary of the Policy as of August 1989. (R. 274.)
4. Mary Beth and Dan Malloy were divorced in April 2004. (R. 274.)
5. The Honorable Ernie W. Jones entered a Decree of Divorce (the "Decree") dissolving the marriage of Defendant and Dan in April 2004. (R. 13-15.)
6. The Decree provided that the Mary Beth was not awarded any part of Dan Malloy's retirement by stating that "...each of the parties should be awarded their own

retirement” and that “...neither party is awarded alimony, past, present or future.” (R. 13-15.)

7. Rhonda married Dan Malloy after his divorce from Mary Beth in July 2006. (R. 274.)

8. Dan Malloy died on September 1, 2009. (R. 274.)

9. Dan Malloy did not change the beneficiary of the Policy prior to his death. (R. 274.)

10. Mary Beth claimed the proceeds of the Policy, amounting to \$50,000, plus interest (the “Life Insurance Proceeds”). (R. 46.)

11. Mary Beth received the Life Insurance Proceeds. (R. 46.)

12. The Office of Federal Employees’ Group Life Insurance paid the Life Insurance Proceeds to Mary Beth pursuant to the most current designation of beneficiary on file for the Policy, which was completed by Dan Malloy on August 24, 1989 (the “Beneficiary Designation”). (R. 62.)

13. Rhonda made demand to Mary Beth in April 2010 for the Life Insurance Proceeds but Mary Beth never paid the Life Insurance Proceeds to Rhonda. (R. 46.)

14. On February 7, 2011, Rhonda moved for summary judgment in the district court. (R. 58.)

15. On February 22, 2011, Mary Beth responded to Rhonda’s Motion for Summary Judgment and filed a Countermotion for Summary Judgment. (R. 76.)

16. On March 18, 2011, Mary Beth filed a Reply to Plaintiff’s Response to Countermotion for Summary Judgment (the “Reply”) wherein Mary Beth attempted to

introduce an exhibit purporting to be the “master policy” document without any foundation or authentication. (R. 127.)

17. On March 31, 2011, Rhonda filed a Motion to Strike Defendant’s Reply to Plaintiff’s Response to Countermotion for Summary Judgment because of the unsupported exhibits to Mary Beth’s memoranda and because Mary Beth had raised new issues in the reply. (R. 206.)

18. On April 6, 2011, the district court heard oral argument on the motions for summary judgment and Rhonda’s Motion to Strike (the “Hearing”). (R. 227.)

19. At the Hearing, Rhonda again raised concerns as the authenticity and reliability of the Manual. (R. 293-14.)

20. At the conclusion of the Hearing, the district court took the matter under advisement and instructed the parties to submit supplemental memoranda addressing the issue of preemption. (R. 227.)

21. On April 25, 2011, Rhonda filed her Supplemental Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment and in Opposition to Defendant’s Countermotion for Summary Judgment (“Plaintiff’s Supplemental Memorandum). (R. 228.)

22. In Plaintiff’s Supplemental Memorandum, Rhonda again objected to the admission of the Manual and Master Policy documents as they lacked foundation and were not authenticated. (R. 237.)

23. On May 2, 2011, in response to Plaintiff’s Supplemental Memorandum, Mary Beth filed a Reply to Plaintiff’s Supplemental Memorandum. (R. 240.)

24. As an exhibit to her Reply to Plaintiff's Supplemental Memorandum, Mary Beth filed an Affidavit in Support of Exhibits (the "Affidavit"). (R. 255.)

25. The Affidavit did not provide any direct testimony or other support for the Manual or Master Policy documents other than statements from counsel for Mary Beth, Jacob W. Macfarlane that he had spoken to others about the reliability of the documents. (R. 255.)

26. On May 13, 2011, the district court issued its Memorandum Decision denying Rhonda's Motion for Summary Judgment and granting Mary Beth's Countermotion for Summary Judgment. (R. 273.)

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case arises out of the receipt by Defendant/Mary Beth Mary Beth Malloy of certain life insurance proceeds paid to her as the named beneficiary of a life insurance policy covering Dan Malloy. Mary Beth wrongfully retained the insurance proceeds despite having been divorced from Dan Malloy six years previously. Rhonda bases her claim to the insurance proceeds based on the automatic revocation on divorce provision of Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804. Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804 operates to revoke the beneficiary designation of an insurance policy in the event of divorce between the insured and the beneficiary unless the "governing instruments" of the policy dictate otherwise. The district court erred because it found the governing instrument to be an insurance manual rather than the policy. Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 75-1-201 and § 75-2-802, an insurance manual is not a governing instrument. The district court also erred because even if the manual were a governing instrument, the document relied upon by the district

court that purported to be the manual was not properly authenticated and no evidence was presented to demonstrate that the purported manual was even the manual for this relevant insurance plan or even if it was a manual for the relevant insurance program, whether it was the correct version of that manual. Likewise, the master policy document presented to the district court by Mary Beth was never properly authenticated or considered by the district court. Plaintiff properly objected to this evidence. Finally, even if the policy document submitted by Mary Beth were properly authenticated and admitted, the Policy does not contain provision to prevent operation of § 75-2-804.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. The District Court Erred in Finding that the Insurance Manual was a “Governing Instrument” under Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804.**

This case arises out of the receipt by Defendant/Mary Beth Mary Beth Malloy of certain life insurance proceeds paid to her as the named beneficiary of a life insurance policy covering her ex-husband, Dan Malloy. Plaintiff/Appellant Rhonda Malloy was thereafter married to Dan Malloy until his death in 2009. After Mary Beth received the insurance proceeds, Rhonda demanded that Mary Beth surrender the insurance proceeds and deliver them to Rhonda. Rhonda bases her claim to the insurance proceeds on the automatic revocation on divorce provision of Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804. § 75-2-804

operates to revoke the beneficiary designation of an insurance policy in the event of divorce between the insured and the beneficiary.<sup>1</sup> Specifically, § 75-2-804 states that:

Except as provided by the express terms of a governing instrument, a court order, or a contract relating to the division of the marital estate made between the divorced individuals before or after the marriage, divorce, or annulment, the divorce or annulment of a marriage:

(a) revokes any revocable:

- i. disposition or appointment of property made by a divorced individual to his former spouse in a governing instrument and any disposition or appointment created by law or in a governing instrument to a relative of the divorced individual's former spouse.

Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804(2).

In general terms under the Utah Probate Code, a “governing instrument” is a deed, will, trust, insurance or annuity policy, account with POD designation, security registered in beneficiary form (TOD), pension, profit-sharing, retirement, or similar benefit plan, instrument creating or exercising a power of appointment or a power of attorney, or a dispositive, appointive, or nominative instrument of any similar type.

Utah Code Ann. § 75-1-201(19).

---

<sup>1</sup> Where the beneficiary designation is not revoked due to preemption by federal statute (in this case FEGLIA), § 75-2-804 appears to create a private right of action in the case of a divorce permitting recovery against the former spouse who has received the insurance proceeds, as found by courts in other jurisdictions. *See, e.g., In re Estate of Paul J. Sauers, III, Deceased*, 971 A.2d 1265 (Pa. Sup. 2009). The district court did not reach the issue of whether any such private right was indeed created.



Under § 75-2-804, the definition of “governing instrument” is further refined to include only those documents “executed by the divorced individual before the divorce or annulment of his marriage to his former spouse.” Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804(1)(d). A district court’s interpretation of a statute is a question of law that is reviewed by the appellate court for correctness, giving “no deference to the legal conclusions of the district court...” *R & R Indus. Park, L.L.C. v. Utah Prop. & Cas. Ins. Guar. Ass’n*, 199 P.3d 917, 922 (Utah 2008).

Mary Beth has acknowledged that the governing instruments in this case are the Policy and the Designation of Beneficiary executed by Dan Malloy in 1989. Neither of those documents contains the “express terms” necessary to constitute an exception to the revocation provision of § 75-2-804. The Manual is not a “governing instrument” under §§ 75-1-201 or 75-2-804. There is nothing to suggest that the Manual is anything other than an interpretation of the Policy. To make it so would be to allow administrative interpretation of a statutory scheme to trump a well-defined State law. Moreover, it cannot be said the Dan Malloy “executed” the Manual at any point.

Similarly, the beneficiary designation form executed by Dan Malloy contains no “express terms” that would except it from operation of § 75-2-804. Although the beneficiary designation form does advise policyholders to keep designations current, it does not expressly state that divorce will not invalidate the appointment of beneficiary under the Policy as required § 75-2-804. The Policy likewise lacks any express language indicating that divorce does not affect the designation of a beneficiary. What the Policy document does contain is direction on how beneficiaries are identified. The statute at

issue here clearly identifies the policy and documents “executed” by the insured as the “governing instruments.” The Manual is not the policy and is not a document “executed” by Dan Malloy and is therefore not a governing instrument. The district court erred determining that the Manual was a “governing instrument” under § 75-2-804.

**II. The Insurance Manual and Master Policy Documents Relied Upon by the District Court in Granting Mary Beth’s Motion for Summary Judgment Had No Foundation and Were Not Authenticated.**

Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 56 requires that motions for summary judgment be supported by affidavits, depositions and responses to discovery requests. Rule 103(a) of the Utah Rules of Evidence permits a finding of error where the error affects a substantial right and objection is made to the offered evidence. Where documentary evidence is relied upon by the district court in formulating its decision, evidentiary error with regard to that evidence is reversible without deference to the district court. *Merrill v. Bailey & Sons Co.*, 106 P.2d 255, 258 (Utah 1940). Rule 901 of the Utah Rules of Evidence requires that documentary evidence be authenticated prior to admission. Utah Rules of Evidence 901(a). In her Motion for Summary Judgment to the district court, Mary Beth submitted copies of what purport to be the master policy document and the insurance manual. Rhonda, in memoranda and before the district court at oral argument, objected to these documents as inadmissible for failing to adhere to the Utah Rules of Evidence.

Mary Beth submitted the Manual and Master Policy to the district court without providing any foundation for that document. There was no supporting affidavit or other appropriate evidence demonstrating the reliability of those documents. There was simply

no admissible evidence or testimony before the district court that provided any foundation for the Manual or the Master Policy documents.

There is likewise no evidence that the Manual in its current iteration bears any relationship or similarities to the policy that was purchased by Dan Malloy more than twenty years ago. There is no evidence demonstrating that the Manual of any vintage is indeed a fair representation of the Policy such that it would constitute a “governing instrument.” Only after Rhonda objected to the documents for a third time in her Supplemental Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment did Mary Beth attempt to offer any foundation for the objectionable documents. However, that was accomplished by way of an affidavit from Mary Beth’s counsel that only alleged that counsel had verbal assurances from third parties that the documents were what Mary Beth claims they are. There was no testimony offered from those third parties, and the statements contained in counsel’s affidavit are inadmissible under Utah Rule of Evidence 802.

The district court’s reliance on the Manual affects the substantial right of Rhonda to the proceeds of the life insurance policy of Dan Malloy. It was primarily the Manual upon which the district court relied in rendering its decision. Because the district court relied on the Manual, which was afflicted with evidentiary problems, and because the district court’s reliance on that Manual affects a substantial right of Rhonda, the district court’s decision must be overturned and this matter remanded to the district court.

**III. The Governing Instruments of the Policy Contain No Express Language Preventing the Automatic Revocation by Divorce Provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804.**

Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804(2) states that:

Except as provided by the express terms of a governing instrument, a court order, or a contract relating to the division of the marital estate made between the divorced individuals before or after the marriage, divorce, or annulment, the divorce or annulment of a marriage:

(a) revokes any revocable:

- i. disposition or appointment of property made by a divorced individual to his former spouse in a governing instrument and any disposition or appointment created by law or in a governing instrument to a relative of the divorced individual's former spouse.

It should go without saying that express terms are those terms that are express, not implied. Section 75-2-804 also clarifies, for the purposes of revocation upon divorce, "governing instrument means a governing instrument executed by the divorced individual before the divorce or annulment of this marriage to his former spouse." Thus, the governing instruments here are limited to the Policy and Designation of Beneficiary. In those governing instruments, there are no express terms that would render § 75-2-804 inoperative.

The only express term contemplated by § 75-2-804 is found in the Manual. As noted above, the Manual as presented to the district court suffered from evidentiary defects that subject the district court's decision to reversal. Also as noted above, the Manual is not a governing instrument. The Policy, which the parties have agreed is a governing instrument, lacks any express language indicating that divorce does not affect

the designation of a beneficiary. What the Policy document does contain is direction on how beneficiaries are identified.

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