2011

Rhonda H. Malloy v. Mary Beth Malloy : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mary Beth was entitled to receive the proceeds of the FEGLI policy because it was undisputed that she was the only designated beneficiary that Dan Malloy ever chose and Dan never submitted any document to ORS to indicate otherwise as required by FEGLI. Further, the

FEGLI policy expressly indicated in multiple places that the designation of beneficiary would not automatically revoke due to a divorce or any other major life change. The designation of beneficiary form expressly informed Dan Malloy that if he *wished* to change a beneficiary, he would have to submit another form and warned him that if a life change occurred, such as divorce, only another properly submitted form would accomplish such a desire. These instructions are contained in manual and the beneficiary designation form.

Further, the Manual and all other relevant forms are incorporated by reference into the contract agreed to by Dan Malloy. The provisions of Utah Code specifically state that automatic revision as a beneficiary occurs upon divorce “except as provided by the express terms of a governing instrument.” The definition of a “governing instrument” is broad and includes any dispositive document.

Also, any objection as to authenticity is unsustainable because the manual and supporting documents are official publications and readily available to the public on the ORS website. Official publications are self-authenticating. *See* Utah Rules of Evidence 902(5). Further, the Affidavit provided by counsel stating where he obtained the documents, what version, and providing printouts of additional publications showing that no revisions as to relevant terms of the policy provided a sufficient foundation for the exhibits to be accepted by the trial judge. Therefore, the trial court properly found that the Manual and the Beneficiary Designation Forms were governing instruments that expressly negated an automatic revocation of Mary Beth’s status as the designated beneficiary.

Finally, the administration of a FEGLIA policy regarding designation of beneficiaries is preempted by federal law and Utah Code § 75-2-804 cannot effect a change in beneficiaries. Therefore, due to all of these reasons; the trial court was correct in ruling in favor of Mary Beth.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Did Not Err in Finding that the Insurance Manual was a “Governing Instrument” under Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804.

The District Court was correct in finding that the insurance manual, along with other supporting documents were “governing instruments” that determined whether or not one’s status as a beneficiary is automatically terminated by divorce pursuant to Utah Code § 75-2-804. When the court decided to accept the insurance manual as a “governing instrument”, it stated the reason being that the manual was incorporated into the policy by reference.

The policy in this dispute is for a Federal Group Life Insurance Policy (“FEGLI Policy”). This policy is governed by the Federal Group Life Insurance Act (“FEGLIA”). Under FEGLIA, the Office of Personnel Management (“OPM”) administers FEGLI policies to federal employees, but does not issue individual policies to each employee. *See* 5 U.S.C. § 8709. Employees who enroll in the FEGLI program file a standard form (“SF 2817”), *see* (R. 249), with their employer as well as a designation of beneficiary form (“SF 2823”). (R. 178-179.) Included as part of the SF 2817 executed by employees enrolling in FEGLIA, are instructions to the employee which incorporate by reference the FEGLI Handbook (RI 76-21) which also happens to be the “Insurance Manual” of this dispute. (R. 76- .)

The Handbook expressly negates automatic revocation by divorce and is incorporated into a governing instrument executed by the deceased at the time he enrolled in FEGLI benefits. It should also be noted that the deceased or enrollee never actually signs the policy; however, the policy is incorporated by reference just like the insurance manual in the same documents that the deceased actual signs. Further, not only does the “Insurance Manual” indicate that automatic revision does not occur upon divorce, but also the beneficiary designation form indicates this too.

Further, Utah Code Ann. § 75-1-201(19) is broad enough to include documents such as the manual or executed forms as a “governing instrument.” The statute allows for “a dispositive, appointive, or normative instrument of *any* similar type.” *See* Utah Code Ann. § 75-1-201(19) (*emphasis added*). The beneficiary designation form and the enrollment form are both part of the insurance policy because they are the only documents ever actually executed to gain the benefit of the policy, they are also dispositive instruments in and of themselves as well. Therefore, because these documents reference the “Insurance Manual,” the District Court was correct in finding the manual to be a “governing instrument” and its decision should be upheld.

II. The Insurance Manual and Master Policy Documents Relied Upon by the District Court in Granting Mary Beth’s Motion for Summary Judgment Had Foundation and Were Properly Authenticated.

Appellant raises two issues in their argument: first that the court improperly allowed an “Insurance Manual” into evidence without authenticating the manual; and second, the court also erred by not finding that there was a lack of foundation for the manual. Appellant is wrong on both issues as will be discussed below.

As to the issue of authentication, Rule 902 of the Utah Rules of Evidence indicates that certain forms of evidence are self-authenticating. Section (5) indicates that official publications like books, pamphlets, or other publication purporting to be issued by a public authority are self-authenticating. *See* Utah Rule of Evidence 902(5). Therefore, documents published on the website of a public authority are self-authenticating because they are reliable.

In the present case, the manual and all other documents submitted to the court were obtained from the Office of Personal Management (“OPM”) website and are still readily available to the public at their site. OPM is a public authority that handles the administration of benefits for federal employees. Therefore, the insurance manual and all other insurance forms

obtained from OPM's website were properly self-authenticated and the District Court did not err by accepting them.

As to the issue of foundation, Counsel for Appellee also submitted an Affidavit indicating where the evidence was obtained. *See* (R. 254.) In the Affidavit, Counsel explains that he went to the OPM website and downloaded forms thereon. Counsel also indicates that he had conversations with two OPM employees. Through those conversations, it was indicated that FEGLI participants are not issued individual policies, but are referred to a Policy Handbook, which was then obtained from the OPM website. Further, in an email sent to Counsel from a FEGLI employee, Counsel was provided with a copy of the master policy and was also informed that any changes that have ever occurred on the policy are published via letter on the OPM website. These changes to the policy were also downloaded from the OPM website and submitted as exhibits, these updates would also be self-authenticating under Utah Rule of Evidence 902(5). (R. 126- .) Taking into account that most of the information provided to court by counsel is readily available online, his affidavit would be sufficient to lay a foundation upon which the court could reasonably accept the documents for what counsel purported them to be.

To further elaborate the point, it seems like Rhonda objects to anything less than a FEGLI employee literally flying to Utah just to testify that the manual they previous sent in an email is *thee* policy and the same policy in effect when Dan Malloy signed his application. Because such a request is unreasonably onerous, the trial judge was well within his discretion to accept Mary Beth's counsel's affidavit to provide a proper foundation for the policy, manual, and other documents previously mentioned. Further, there was enough supporting evidence to prove that the policy and manual submitted where substantively the same as what Dan Malloy signed and that such evidence could reasonably be relied upon by the court. Therefore, no evidentiary errors

occurred. However, even if there were admissibility problems, any problems would not undo the ultimate end result as will be indicated in greater detail below in Mary Beth's argument relating to preemption.

III. The Governing Instruments of the Policy Contain Express Language Preventing the Automatic Revocation by Divorce Provisions of the Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804.

Even assuming that the insurance manual is inadmissible, Appellant agrees that the policy and the beneficiary designation form are governing instruments. On the beneficiary designation form, it expressly indicates in a large enclosed box the following: "Designations should be kept current. With changes in family status (marriage, divorce, death, births, etc.), you may *wish* to make changes in designation." (R. 178-179.) The form recognizes that divorce might necessitate a change in beneficiary, but only if the insured *wishes* a change. Further, the form also indicates under the section "Regulations", part (f), that the only way that the designation of beneficiary is automatically cancelled is if the employee stops being insured.

However, more blatantly apparent and obvious that an automatic revocation does not occur is found in the Manual; thus it explains Rhonda's desperate attempt to eliminate it from evidence. The Manual contains an entire section devoted to this issue. Under the title, "Importance of Updating Designations", it clearly states,

It is your responsibility to ensure that your Designation of Beneficiary remains accurate and reflects your intentions. You should be aware that benefits will be paid based on a valid Designation, regardless of whether that Designation still reflects your intentions.

A divorce does *not* invalidate a Designation that names your former spouse as beneficiary.

See FEGLI Handbook, Chapter on Order of Precedence and Designation of Beneficiary.

[http://www.opm.gov/insure/life/reference/handbook/designt2.asp#designation of beneficiary](http://www.opm.gov/insure/life/reference/handbook/designt2.asp#designation%20of%20beneficiary). (R.

76- .) Because of this express language, automatic revision does not occur under Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804 even if the Utah statute was not preempted from applying to a FEGLI policy.

Therefore, the trial judge's holding stating such should be upheld because it was correct.

IV. Even if FEGLI Policies Fall Within Utah's Definitions of Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804, Application of the Statute to FEGLI Policies is Preempted by Federal Law.

Notwithstanding all previous arguments made, perhaps the most important issue before the Court in this matter is that FEGLIA is an inflexible statutory scheme which preempts Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804 inasmuch as it attempts to give force and effect to a beneficiary other than the one designated by Dan Malloy. Rhonda cites *O'Neal v. Gonzalez*, 839 F.2d 1437, 1440 (11th Cir. 1988) for the argument that the goal of FEGLIA is merely just to achieve administrative convenience and avoid delay. It is baffling that Rhonda would fail to realize that in the same case, the 11th Circuit studied at length the intent of Congress and determined that the purpose of FEGLIA's preemption was not merely for convenience, but also "for the benefit of designated beneficiaries" and that it establishes "an inflexible rule that the beneficiary designated in accordance with the statute would receive policy proceeds, regardless of other documents or equities in a particular case." *Id.* This highlights one of the courts preliminary remarks that "[a]n insured's designation of beneficiary under the Federal Employees' Group Life Insurance Act (FEGLIA) prevails for all purposes." *Id.* at 1437. This would be true even in circumstances that might appear to have a harsh result. *See id.*

Even the preemption provision of FEGLIA states that it preempts "any contract under this chapter which relate to the nature or extent of coverage or benefits. (including payments with respect to benefits) . . . "5 U.S.C.A. § 8709. The purpose of preemption is not, as Plaintiff argues, merely to ensure convenience in administration and efficiency of plans as it *might* have been in the ERISA context as in the case cited by Rhonda, *In re Estate of Paul J. Sauers, III, Deceased*,

971 A.2d 1265 (Pa. Sup. 2009), which has since been reversed for largely the same reasons be explained right now. *See In re Estate of Paul J. Sauers, III, Deceased, 32 A.3d 1241 (Pa. 2011)*. The purpose of preemption is primarily because it also entails making sure that beneficiaries receive the full force and effect of a life insurance program controlled exclusively by the federal government for the benefit of employees.

A state law that attempts to alter ownership of the proceeds cannot avoid preemption even where it waits until after they are received by a duly appointed beneficiary. FEGLIA makes this purpose clear in § 8705(a) by commanding that the proceeds “shall be paid according to the order of precedence,” and by emphasizing that “a designation . . . of a beneficiary in a . . . document not so executed and filed *has no force or effect.*” (*emphasis added*). 5 U.S.C. § 8705(a). Additionally, a state law which attempts to restrict or waive the right to change beneficiary designations automatically by reason of divorce would be in direct conflict with FEGLIA. *See generally* 5 C.F.R. § 870.802(f) (formerly codified as 5 C.F.R. § 870.902(e); *see also Ward v. Stratton, 988 F.2d 65 (8th Cir. 1993)*).

Plaintiffs have attempted to claim that a state action is allowed to redistribute proceeds received from FEGLIA by filing a suit directly against the beneficiary after the distribution has occurred. However, the 10th Circuit has indicated that a state’s attempt to alter federal law by reallocating FEGLI proceeds is preempted regardless of the equities in a particular case. *See Dean v. Johnson, 881 F.2d 948, 949 fn. 4 (10th Cir.) cert denied, 493 U.S. 1011, 110 S.Ct. 574, 107 L.Ed. 2d 549 (1989)*. Further, the case cited by Rhonda, *In re Estate of Paul J. Sauers, III, Deceased, 971 A.2d 1265 (Pa. Sup. 2009)*, used to support her argument that a private right of action is created by Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804 even if a plan administrator gives the proceeds to the designated beneficiary that also happens to be an ex-spouse, has now been reversed. *See In*

re Estate of Paul J. Sauers, III, Deceased, 32 A.3d 1241 (Pa. 2011). In its reversal opinion, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court found that a contrary result would cause havoc for plan administrators having to educate themselves in state laws to avoid potential liability for violating federal law and thereby cause administrative inefficiency and allow states to impermissibly affect federal law. *See generally Sauers*, 32 A.3d at 1257.

It should also be pointed out, that even though the *Sauers* case is distinguishable from the present set off facts because it relates to ERISA instead of FEGLIA, the state of Pennsylvania has now come into agreement with other federal circuit courts finding that federal law cannot be preempted by state laws changing designation of beneficiaries. *See Sauers*, 32 A.3d 1241 (Pa. 2011); *see also O'Neal*, 839 F.2d 1437 (11th Cir. 1988); *Dean v. Johnson*, 881F.2d 948 (10th Cir. 1989).

As for the second case cited by Rhonda, *Stillman v. TIAA-CREF*, 343 F.3d 1311 (10th Cir. 2003), although the case is dealing with Utah Code § 75-2-804(2) and how it is applied retroactively to policies entered into before the automatic revision statute was enacted in 1998, it does not address the issue of the effect of § 75-2-804 as to altering a designation of a beneficiary in a federal policy like FEGLI. Therefore, although it is a good case about how Utah Code § 75-2-804 functions in general, it is not on point or helpful to the present set of facts when dealing with a FEGLI policy. Further, following the thought line presented by Rhonda using this case as the proposed authority to allow Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804 to alter FEGLI designation of beneficiaries would go against the position of 10th and 11th Circuits.

Therefore, unfortunately for Rhonda, her authority for her position is completely undermined by the very same cases she cited and the conclusion ultimately does not allow her not escape the end result proclaimed in *Dean v. Johnson*, that, Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-804